

MAINE STATE LEGISLATURE

The following document is provided by the
LAW AND LEGISLATIVE DIGITAL LIBRARY
at the Maine State Law and Legislative Reference Library
<http://legislature.maine.gov/lawlib>



Reproduced from electronic originals
(may include minor formatting differences from printed original)

LAWS
OF THE
STATE OF MAINE

AS PASSED BY THE

ONE HUNDRED AND THIRTIETH LEGISLATURE

FIRST REGULAR SESSION
December 2, 2020 to March 30, 2021

FIRST SPECIAL SESSION
April 28, 2021 to July 19, 2021

THE GENERAL EFFECTIVE DATE FOR
FIRST REGULAR SESSION
NON-EMERGENCY LAWS IS
JUNE 29, 2021

THE GENERAL EFFECTIVE DATE FOR
FIRST SPECIAL SESSION
NON-EMERGENCY LAWS IS
OCTOBER 18, 2021

PUBLISHED BY THE REVISOR OF STATUTES
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE MAINE REVISED STATUTES ANNOTATED,
TITLE 3, SECTION 163-A, SUBSECTION 4.

Augusta, Maine
2021

Sec. 1. 5 MRSA §6203, sub-§3, as amended by PL 2009, c. 178, §§1 and 2, is further amended to read:

3. Fund proceeds. The proceeds of the Land for Maine's Future Fund may be applied and expended to:

A. Acquire property or an interest in property that is determined by the board to be of state significance under the guidelines of this chapter;

B. When interest in land is acquired with proceeds from the Land for Maine's Future Fund, fund minor capital improvements on such lands and on adjoining lands in the same ownership or under the same management to improve accessibility, as long as these improvements do not exceed 5% of the appraised value of the acquired property; ~~and~~

C. When interest in farmland is acquired with proceeds from the Land for Maine's Future Fund, fund the development of a business plan and capital improvements to provide for the land's continuing use as a working farm, as long as these improvements do not exceed 5% of the appraised value of the acquired property. Capital improvements under this paragraph may also be made on adjoining farmland in the same ownership or under the same management; ~~and~~

D. When land or interest in land is acquired with proceeds from the Land for Maine's Future Fund, fund minor capital investments in the stewardship and management of that land. Stewardship and management investments under this paragraph must be held in a dedicated stewardship endowment and identified for use on the funded property. Stewardship and management investments may not exceed 5% of the appraised value of the acquired property.

Sec. 2. 5 MRSA §6203-A, sub-§3, as enacted by PL 1993, c. 728, §5, is amended to read:

3. Fund proceeds. The proceeds of the Public Access to Maine Waters Fund may be applied and expended to:

A. Acquire property or interests in property abutting fresh or coastal waters when public access to those waters does not exist or when the board determines that existing points of public access are not sufficient; ~~and~~

B. Provide minor capital improvements on lands acquired by proceeds from the Public Access to Maine Waters Fund to provide public access or improve accessibility, as long as these improvements do not exceed 5% of the appraised value of the acquired property; ~~and~~

C. When land or interest in land is acquired with proceeds from the Public Access to Maine Waters Fund, fund minor capital investments in the stewardship and management of that land. Stewardship

and management investments under this paragraph must be held in a dedicated stewardship endowment and identified for use on the funded property. Stewardship and management investments may not exceed 5% of the appraised value of the acquired property.

See title page for effective date.

CHAPTER 34

H.P. 56 - L.D. 90

An Act To Amend the Removal Process Applicable to the Position of State Supervisor of the Forest Protection Unit of the Bureau of Forestry

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. 12 MRSA §8901, sub-§1, ¶B is enacted to read:

B. The state supervisor of the forest protection unit of the Bureau of Forestry, as Chief Forest Ranger, must be appointed from among the forest rangers of the department and must be qualified by training and experience in wildfire protection and law enforcement. In the event that the Chief Forest Ranger is not reappointed, the Chief Forest Ranger has the right to be restored to the position from which the Chief Forest Ranger was promoted or to a position equivalent in salary grade, without impairment of personnel status or the loss of seniority, retirement or other rights to which uninterrupted service in the previous position would have entitled the former Chief Forest Ranger. If service as Chief Forest Ranger is terminated for cause, the right to be restored to that previous or an equivalent position must be determined by the State Civil Service Appeals Board.

See title page for effective date.

CHAPTER 35

H.P. 64 - L.D. 98

An Act To Clarify Maine's Statutes Related to the Licensing of Child Care Providers

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. 22 MRSA §1319-C, sub-§3, as amended by PL 2005, c. 530, §3, is further amended to read:

3. Approval dependent on compliance. As of July 1, 1998, a family child care provider, child care facility or nursery school may not be licensed, registered, ~~certified~~ or otherwise approved or receive any state funds unless it is in compliance with this section.

Sec. 2. 22 MRSA §2662, sub-§5, as amended by PL 2007, c. 631, §4, is further amended to read:

5. Residential swimming pool. "Residential swimming pool" means any constructed pool that is used for swimming in connection with a single or multifamily residence, used by tenants of apartment buildings, owners of condominiums and members of property owners associations and available only to these residents and their private guests. A pool on the premises of a family child care provider who is ~~certified~~ licensed or required to be ~~certified~~ licensed under section 8301-A is a residential swimming pool.

Sec. 3. 22 MRSA §7702-A, sub-§2, as repealed and replaced by PL 2003, c. 452, Pt. K, §27 and affected by Pt. X, §2, is amended to read:

2. Civil penalties. The following penalties apply to the following violations:

A. A person who violates section 7703 or 8603 or rules adopted pursuant to those sections commits a civil violation for which a fine of not more than \$500 may be adjudged.

B. A person who violates rules governing child-to-staff ratios adopted under section 8302-A, subsection 1, paragraph A or subsection 2, paragraph G commits a civil violation for which a fine of not more than \$500 per incident or \$500 per number of children above the limitation set by rule, or both, may be adjudged.

C. A person who violates the following sections or rules adopted pursuant to those sections commits a civil violation for which a fine of not more than \$500 per incident may be adjudged:

- (1) Section 7801, subsection 1, paragraph A;
- (2) Section 8301-A; or
- (3) Section 8302-A, subsection 1, paragraphs B to J and subsection 2, paragraphs A to F and H to K.

A civil violation under this subsection must be enforced pursuant to Title 17-A, section 4-B.

Sec. 4. 22 MRSA §7702-A, sub-§3, as amended by PL 2015, c. 497, §1, is repealed.

Sec. 5. 22 MRSA §7702-B, as enacted by PL 2007, c. 324, §5, is amended by amending the section headnote to read:

§7702-B. Operating without a license ~~or certificate~~; violations; penalties

Sec. 6. 22 MRSA §7702-B, sub-§1, as enacted by PL 2007, c. 324, §5, is amended to read:

1. License ~~or certificate~~ required. A person, firm, partnership, association, corporation or other entity may not, without first obtaining a license:

A. Manage or operate a long-term care facility as defined in chapter 1666-B;

B. Operate a child care facility as defined in section 8301-A, subsection 1-A, paragraph B; or

C. Operate as a family child care provider as defined in section 8301-A, subsection 1-A, paragraph C.

Sec. 7. 22 MRSA §7702-B, sub-§7, as enacted by PL 2007, c. 324, §5, is amended to read:

7. Right of entry. To inspect the premises of a long-term care facility, child care facility or family child care provider that the department knows or believes is being operated without a license ~~or certificate~~, the department may enter only with the permission of the owner or person in charge or with an administrative inspection warrant issued pursuant to the Maine Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 80E by the District Court, authorizing entry and inspection.

Sec. 8. 22 MRSA §7702-B, sub-§8, as enacted by PL 2007, c. 324, §5, is amended to read:

8. Administrative inspection warrant. The department and a duly designated officer or employee of the department have the right to enter upon and into the premises of an unlicensed long-term care facility ~~or~~, child care facility or ~~an un-~~certified family child care provider with an administrative inspection warrant issued pursuant to the Maine Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 80E by the District Court at a reasonable time and, upon demand, have the right to inspect and copy any books, accounts, papers, records and other documents in order to determine the state of compliance with subsection 1. Pursuant to the Maine Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 80E the department's right of entry and inspection may extend to any premises and documents of a person, firm, partnership, association, corporation or other entity that the department has reason to believe is operating without a license ~~or a certificate~~.

Sec. 9. 22 MRSA §7702-B, sub-§9, as enacted by PL 2007, c. 324, §5, is amended to read:

9. Noninterference. An owner or person in charge of an unlicensed long-term care facility ~~or~~, child care facility or ~~an un-~~certified family child care provider may not interfere with or prohibit the interviewing by the department of residents or consumers of services.

Sec. 10. 22 MRSA §7707, sub-§1, as enacted by PL 2015, c. 278, §2, is amended to read:

1. Reporting requirements. A child care facility licensed pursuant to section 8301-A, subsection 2; a

family child care provider ~~certified~~ licensed pursuant to section 8301-A, subsection 3; and a nursery school licensed pursuant to section 8402 shall report reportable incidents in accordance with this section.

Sec. 11. 22 MRSA §7801, sub-§1, ¶E, as amended by PL 2001, c. 645, §3, is further amended to read:

E. A child care facility licensed under section 8301-A, subsection 2; ~~or~~

Sec. 12. 22 MRSA §7801, sub-§1, ¶G, as enacted by PL 1987, c. 389, §4, is amended to read:

G. An adult day care program; or

Sec. 13. 22 MRSA §7801, sub-§1, ¶H is enacted to read:

H. A family child care provider licensed under section 8301-A, subsection 3.

Sec. 14. 22 MRSA §7802, sub-§2, ¶B, as amended by PL 2015, c. 267, Pt. RR, §1, is further amended by amending subparagraph (6) to read:

(6) The term of a ~~home-day family child care certificate~~ provider license issued under section 8301-A, subsection 3 is for 2 years.

Sec. 15. 22 MRSA §7802, sub-§6, as enacted by PL 2007, c. 324, §9, is amended to read:

6. Time limit on reapplication after denial or revocation. The following time limit applies to a reapplication after denial or revocation.

A. When a license ~~or certificate~~ for a child care facility or a family child care provider has been denied or revoked on one occasion, the applicant or licensee may not reapply for a license ~~or certificate~~ for a child care facility or a family child care provider for a period of one year from the effective date of the denial or revocation decision if not appealed, or, if appealed, from the effective date of the commissioner's final decision or the reviewing court's order, whichever is later.

B. If a license ~~or certificate~~ for a child care facility or a family child care provider has been denied or revoked on 2 occasions, the applicant or licensee may not reapply for a license ~~or certificate~~ for a child care facility or a family child care provider for a period of 2 years from the effective date of the second denial or revocation decision if the decision is not appealed or, if appealed, from the effective date of the commissioner's final decision or the reviewing court's order, whichever is later.

C. If a license ~~or certificate~~ for a child care facility or a family child care provider has been denied or revoked on 3 occasions, the applicant or licensee may not receive another license ~~or certificate~~ for the care of children.

Sec. 16. 22 MRSA §8301-A, as amended by PL 2009, c. 211, Pt. B, §§20 and 21, is further amended by amending the section headnote to read:

§8301-A. Licensure of child care facilities; ~~certification of~~ and family child care providers

Sec. 17. 22 MRSA §8301-A, sub-§1-A, ¶C, as amended by PL 2005, c. 530, §7, is further amended to read:

C. "Family child care provider" means a person who provides day care in that person's home on a regular basis, for consideration, for 3 to 12 children under 13 years of age who are not the children of the provider or who are not residing in the provider's home. If a provider is caring for children living in that provider's home and is caring for no more than 2 other children, the provider is not required to be ~~certified~~ licensed as a family child care provider.

Sec. 18. 22 MRSA §8301-A, sub-§3, as amended by PL 2005, c. 640, §3, is further amended to read:

3. Family child care provider ~~certification~~ licensure. A family child care provider shall pay the ~~certification~~ licensing fee required under section 8303-A. A family child care provider must be ~~certified~~ licensed under this chapter and shall comply with the rules adopted by the commissioner under section 8302-A and the fire safety requirements of section 8304-A. The department shall make at least one unannounced inspection of a family child care provider ~~certified~~ licensed under this chapter during the term of the ~~certificate~~ license. The inspection must take place between 6 and 18 months after the issuance of the ~~certificate~~ license.

Sec. 19. 22 MRSA §8301-A, sub-§4, as amended by PL 2005, c. 530, §7, is further amended to read:

4. Complaints. Upon receipt of a complaint about a licensed child care facility or a ~~certified~~ family child care provider and if the department has reasonable cause to suspect that a violation of the licensure ~~or certification~~ requirements has occurred, the department may investigate the complaint and enter the premises at any reasonable time for the purposes of the investigation.

Sec. 20. 22 MRSA §8301-A, sub-§5, as amended by PL 2005, c. 530, §7, is further amended to read:

5. Administrative suspension. Whenever conditions exist that immediately jeopardize the health and safety of children, the commissioner may issue an order of closure, which suspends the ~~certification~~ license of the family child care provider or ~~the~~ child care facility ~~license~~ for up to 10 days, pending further investigation or prior to obtaining an order of emergency suspension

from the court. The department shall require that an order of closure be posted at the facility and made public as it determines to be most appropriate for parents and other potential customers.

Sec. 21. 22 MRSA §8301-A, sub-§6, as amended by PL 2005, c. 530, §7, is further amended to read:

6. Temporary license. Whenever a ~~certified family child care provider~~ or licensed child care facility or family child care provider moves to a new location the department may issue a temporary ~~certificate or~~ license, valid pending final action on the application for the new location by the department, when:

A. All applicable standards have been met except a requirement that is dependent on the action of an agency of State Government or a contractor of that agency; and

B. Through no action by the applicant that causes a significant delay, timely issuance of a provisional or full license has been delayed by the agency or contractor.

Sec. 22. 22 MRSA §8302-A, sub-§2, ¶D-1 is enacted to read:

D-1. The quality of the program of child care that is provided;

Sec. 23. 22 MRSA §8302-A, sub-§2, ¶D-2 is enacted to read:

D-2. The administration of medication;

Sec. 24. 22 MRSA §8302-A, sub-§2, ¶I, as amended by PL 2017, c. 457, §3, is further amended to read:

I. Procedures for waivers of rules and for suspension and revocation of ~~certification~~ licensure; and

Sec. 25. 22 MRSA §8302-B, first ¶, as amended by PL 2005, c. 530, §9, is further amended to read:

A person who provides day care in that person's home for one or 2 children whose care is paid for by state or federal funds is not required to be ~~certified licensed~~ as a family child care provider pursuant to section 8301-A but is subject to the provisions of this section.

Sec. 26. 22 MRSA §8303-A, sub-§1, as enacted by PL 2009, c. 590, §6, is amended to read:

1. Child care facilities and certified family child care providers. The department shall adopt rules to establish reasonable fees for both initial licensure ~~or certification~~ and license ~~or certification~~ renewals for child care facilities and ~~certified~~ family child care providers. Rules adopted pursuant to this subsection are major substantive rules pursuant to Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 2-A.

Sec. 27. 22 MRSA §8304-A, sub-§1, as amended by PL 2005, c. 530, §11, is further amended to read:

1. Inspection required. As an ongoing condition of licensure ~~or certification~~, the Commissioner of Public Safety must provide at least biennially to the department a written statement that the child care facility or ~~certified~~ family child care provider complies with applicable fire safety rules adopted pursuant to Title 25, section 2452. The Commissioner of Public Safety shall adopt rules in accordance with the Maine Administrative Procedure Act to implement this subsection. The rules must provide for at least the following.

A. The Commissioner of Public Safety shall issue a fire safety technician certificate to any person who successfully completes a training course established by the Department of Public Safety. A person who receives a fire safety technician certificate pursuant to this paragraph may perform fire safety inspections under this section.

B. In addition to ongoing license ~~or certification~~ requirements, inspection ~~and certification are~~ is required under this section whenever a child care facility or ~~certified~~ family child care provider changes or augments a heating system or makes major structural alterations to the facility or home.

Sec. 28. 22 MRSA §8353, sub-§3, as enacted by PL 2015, c. 283, §3, is amended to read:

3. Addition of relevant professionals. The investigation team shall include, as appropriate, relevant professionals to participate as members of the investigation team for investigations of residential treatment centers, group homes, ~~certified~~ family child care providers or child care facilities.

Sec. 29. 22 MRSA §8356, sub-§1, ¶B, as enacted by PL 2015, c. 283, §3, is amended to read:

B. A family child care provider ~~certified~~ licensed pursuant to section 8301-A, subsection 3;

Sec. 30. 22 MRSA §8356, sub-§2, as enacted by PL 2015, c. 283, §3, is amended to read:

2. Unlicensed person or facilities. The investigation team may investigate a person or facility described in subsection 1 if the person or facility is not licensed ~~or certified~~.

Sec. 31. 24-A MRSA §3060, sub-§1, as enacted by PL 2009, c. 185, §1, is amended to read:

1. Evidence of business liability insurance. An insurer may not refuse to issue or renew a policy covering the primary residence of a family child care provider ~~certified~~ licensed under Title 22, section 8301-A, subsection 3 or cancel such policy within the first 90 days of coverage unless the denial of coverage or cancellation is based solely on underwriting factors other than the presence of a family child care business on the

premises if the family child care provider has demonstrated satisfactory evidence that the child care business is covered by separate insurance coverage for business liability, including medical payments coverage equivalent to coverage in the policy. For purposes of cancellation or nonrenewal under section 3049 or 3051, an insurer may not treat the presence of the family child care business activity as a factor related to the insurability of the primary residence of a family child care provider ~~certified licensed~~ under Title 22, section 8301-A, subsection 3 if the family child care provider has demonstrated satisfactory evidence that the child care business is covered by separate insurance coverage for business liability in accordance with this subsection.

Sec. 32. 24-A MRSA §3060, sub-§2, as enacted by PL 2009, c. 185, §1, is amended to read:

2. No liability under property insurance policy.

An insurer has no duty to defend or indemnify a family child care provider ~~certified licensed~~ under Title 22, section 8301-A, subsection 3 under a policy covering the primary residence of a family child care provider issued by the insurer if:

- A. The loss or damage for which the family child care provider is liable or alleged to be liable arises in whole or in part from the family child care business activity;
- B. The policy issued by the insurer expressly excludes that loss or damage arising from the family child care business activity;
- C. The family child care provider has demonstrated satisfactory evidence of separate insurance coverage for child care business liability in accordance with subsection 1; and
- D. The insurer issuing the policy covering the primary residence has disclosed to the family child care provider that failure to maintain separate insurance coverage for child care business liability might result in cancellation or nonrenewal of the policy covering the primary residence and that the child care business activity is excluded under the policy.

See title page for effective date.

CHAPTER 36

H.P. 114 - L.D. 158

An Act To Eliminate Inactive Boards and Commissions

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. 5 MRSA §55-A, as enacted by PL 2003, c. 238, §1 and affected by §2, is repealed.

Sec. 2. 5 MRSA §90-T, as enacted by PL 2011, c. 304, Pt. D, §2, is repealed.

Sec. 3. 5 MRSA §1547, sub-§7, as enacted by PL 2003, c. 451, Pt. F, §2 and amended by c. 600, §4, is amended to read:

7. Other related organizations. All legislatively created public instrumentalities and related organizations for which the State is financially accountable or that have a significant relationship with the State as defined by a governmental accounting standards board that are not included in subsection 3, ~~including but not limited to eligible institutions as defined in section 13103~~, that receive funds from bond issues must comply with the fiscal reporting policies established by the State Controller. The fiscal and reporting policies must include:

- A. Internal control standards required by section 1541, subsection 10-A;
- B. Quarterly reporting to the State Controller that includes a detail of transactions and reconciliation of all accounts;
- C. No later than October 15th annually, submission to the Department of Administrative and Financial Services, Office of the State Controller of all financial statements and schedules of expenditures of federal awards;
- D. Financial statements that are prepared in accordance with the standards and requirements established by a governmental accounting standards board; and
- E. Submission annually to the Department of Administrative and Financial Services, Office of the State Controller of a copy of the independent auditor's report, including any findings, recommendations and management letter comments, and any other materials considered necessary by the State Controller.

Legislatively created public instrumentalities and other related organizations required to comply under this subsection ~~who that~~ must also comply with the federal Office of Management and Budget circulars, regulations issued by a governmental accounting standards board or other accounting, auditing and reporting requirements may submit that information to the State Controller to satisfy the requirements of this subsection.

Sec. 4. 5 MRSA §12004-G, sub-§4-B, as enacted by PL 2001, c. 196, §1, is repealed.

Sec. 5. 5 MRSA §12004-I, sub-§2-G, as amended by PL 2011, c. 304, Pt. D, §3, is repealed.

Sec. 6. 5 MRSA §12004-I, sub-§4-B, as enacted by PL 2007, c. 503, §1, is repealed.

Sec. 7. 5 MRSA §12004-I, sub-§22-B, as amended by PL 2011, c. 206, §1, is repealed.